
 
 

 
 
 
WEDNESDAY, 24 APRIL 2024 
 
 
TO: THE CABINET MEMBER FOR ORGANISATION AND 
WORKFORCE 
 
 
I HEREBY SUMMON YOU TO ATTEND A MEETING OF THE 
CABINET MEMBER FOR ORGANISATION & WORKFORCE 
WHICH WILL BE HELD IN CABINET MEMBER OFFICE -  
COUNTY HALL, CARMARTHEN. SA31 1JP AND REMOTELY., 
AT 10.00 AM, ON FRIDAY, 3RD MAY, 2024 FOR THE 
TRANSACTION OF THE BUSINESS OUTLINED ON THE 
ATTACHED AGENDA. 
 
 

Wendy Walters 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 

 
Democratic Officer: Kevin Thomas 
Telephone (direct line): 01267 224027 
E-Mail: kjthomas@carmarthenshire.gov.uk  
 

Wendy Walters Prif Weithredwr, Chief Executive, 
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP 
County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP 

 
 
 

Document Pack



 
 

 
 

A G E N D A   
  

1. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTEREST   
 

2. TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE DECISION RECORD 
OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 30TH JANUARY 2024  

3 - 4 

 
3. FLEXIBLE WORKING POLICY  5 - 22 

 
4. PATERNITY LEAVE POLICY  23 - 36 

 
 
 
Note:- The  press and public are not entitled to attend the meeting. The decision record will 
be published normally within 3 working days. 



 
 

CABINET MEMBER FOR ORGANISATION & WORKFORCE 
 

TUESDAY, 30 January 2024 
 

PRESENT: Councillor: P.M. Hughes (Cabinet Member). 
 
The following officers were in attendance: 
P.R. Thomas, Assistant Chief Executive (People Management & Performance) 
K. Thomas, Democratic Services Officer 
 
Cabinet Member Office & Remote - County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP. - 2.00  - 2.10 
pm 
 
1. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of personal interest. 
 

2. TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE DECISION RECORD OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON THE 17TH JANUARY 2024 
 
RESOLVED that the decision record of the meeting held on the 17th January 
2024 be signed as a correct record. 
 

3. REPORT NOT FOR PUBLICATION 
 
RESOLVED pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the 
Local Government (Access to Information)(Variation)(Wales) Order 2007 that 
the following items were not for publication as the reports contained exempt 
information as defined in Paragraph 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A to the Act. 
 

4. OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH (OH) CHARGES 
 
Following the application of the public interest test it was RESOLVED 
pursuant to the Act referred to in minute 3 above not to publicise the content 
of the report as it contained exempt information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding 
that information) (Paragraph 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A to the Act). 
  
The public interest test in this matter related to the fact that the report 
included commercially sensitive information therefore the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption under the 1972 Act in respect of this report 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information the information 
therein as disclosure would put those organisations that provide external 
elements of the Occupational Health Service in a disadvantageous position 
within the overall market in which they operate. 
  
The Cabinet Member considered a report on proposals for the Council to increase 
its Occupational Health Charges, as detailed in Appendix A . 
  
RESOLVED that the Council increase its Occupational Health Charges as 
detailed in the report. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
__________________________    __________________ 
CABINET MEMBER     DATE 
 
 

Page 4



JANUARY 2024 

Cabinet Member meeting 
03.05.24 

 
Cabinet Member: Portfolio: 
Cllr. Philip Hughes Organisation and Workforce 

 FLEXIBLE WORKING POLICY 
 
Purpose: 
  
The revised Flexible Working policy sets out our commitment to supporting employees in 
balancing work and home commitments and the procedure for managing a request from an 
employee for flexible working in line with the Flexible Working (Amendment) Regulations 2023 
which comes into force to 6th April 2024. 
Recommendations / key decisions required: 
 
To endorse the revised Flexible Working policy and recommend for adoption. 

Reasons:  
 
To ensure the Authority is compliant with the Flexible Working (Amendment) Regulations 2023 
and meets its statutory obligations. 

Directorate: 

Name of Head of Service: 

 

 

Report Author: 

Designations: 

Paul Thomas 

Assistant Chief 
Executive 

Ann Clarke 
 
HR Manager 
(Business Partnering) 
 

Tel/ Email addresses: 

01267 246123 

PRThomas@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

01267 246167 

ALClarke@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

mailto:PRThomas@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:ALClarke@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


JANUARY 2024 

Declaration of Personal Interest (if any): 
None 
 
 
 

Dispensation Granted to Make Decision (if any): 
N/A 
(If the answer is yes exact details are to be provided below:) 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION MADE: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed:  ____________________________________________________________DATE:_______ 
                                                                   CABINET MEMBER  
 

 
The following section will be completed by the Democratic Services Officer in 
attendance at the meeting 
Recommendation of Officer 
adopted 

YES / NO 
 

Recommendation of the Officer 
was adopted subject to the 
amendment(s) and reason(s) 
specified: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Reason(s) why the Officer’s 
recommendation was not 
adopted: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 6



JANUARY 2024 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

03.05.24 
 

SUBJECT 
 

Flexible Working policy 
 

Flexible Working  
 
The right to request flexible working has been in force since the Children and Families Act 
2014. 
 
From 6 April 2024, employees will have amended statutory rights when making a request for 
flexible working as set out in the revised Flexible Working policy.  

Key changes:  
 
The right to request flexible working is being expanded as follows:  
 

• employers are required to consult with their employees before rejecting a flexible 
working request. 

• employees may make two (not one) flexible working requests in any twelve-month 
period.  

• employers must respond to requests within two (not three) months.  
• employees are no longer required to set out how the effects of their flexible working 

request might be dealt with by their employer; and,  
• the 26-week qualifying period is being removed, making it a day one right.  

 
Acas is updating its statutory Code of Practice on handling requests for flexible working and 
Government guidance is expected early in 2024. Timescales will be included within the policy 
to reflect this guidance once finalised. 

The changes do not provide a default right to work flexibly, and it will remain a right to request 
which an employer may refuse on the existing grounds. We have reviewed our flexible 
working policy and procedures (with reference to the Acas Code once finalised.) 

 

Decision required: to recommend the adoption of amends to the Flexible Working policy. 

 
DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? NO 

Policy attached 

  

Page 7

https://www.acas.org.uk/about-us/acas-consultations/code-of-practice-flexible-working-requests-2023/draft-code#the-code-of-practice


JANUARY 2024 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

Policy, 
Crime & 
Disorder 
and 
Equalities 
 

Legal  Finance  ICT  Risk 
Manage-
ment Issues  

Staffing 
Implications  

Physical 
Assets   

Bio- 
diversity & 
Climate 
Change 
 

YES  
 

YES  
 

NONE 
 

NONE  
 

NONE  
 

YES  
 

NONE  NONE 
 

 
  

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 
 
Signed:                 Paul Thomas, Assistant Chief Executive (People Management)                                                                            

 

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 
The Flexible Working Policy supports the Authority’s Corporate Strategy and our Well-
being Objective 4: To further modernise and develop as a resilient and efficient Council 
(Our Council).  

2. Legal  
The Flexible Working policy enables the Authority to meet its statutory requirements as laid 
out in the Flexible Working (Amendment) Regulations 2023.   

3. Staffing implications 
The People Management team has a role to play in educating managers on these 
enhanced rights and responsibilities, managing and advising on applications, to ensure the 
statutory obligations are complied with and risks of claims minimised. 

Page 8



JANUARY 2024 

 
 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

 
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below 
 
Signed:   Paul Thomas, Assistant Chief Executive                                                 
 

 
(Please specify the outcomes of consultations undertaken where they arise against the following headings) 
1. Scrutiny Committee 
N/A 
2.Local Member(s)   
N/A 
3.Community / Town Council  
N/A 
4.Relevant Partners   
N/A 
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   
Recognised trades unions have been consulted via CERF. 

 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
THERE ARE NONE  
 
Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

   
 

 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Flexible Working Policy 
and Procedure

People Management
Adopted: September 2018
Reviewed: April 2024

Page 11



 

 

1.  Introduction  
  
Under the provisions set out in the Children and Families Act 2014 and the Flexible 
Working (Amendment) Regulations 2023, all employees have a statutory right to ask 
their employer for a permanent change to their contractual terms and conditions of 
employment to work flexibly.  
  
Carmarthenshire County Council has a statutory duty to consider all such 
applications.  
  
This statutory right does not provide an automatic right to work flexibly.  The 
Authority will work with employees to try and reach mutually acceptable flexible 
working arrangements that meet the needs of both parties.  However, there may be 
circumstances where a request to work flexibly may be declined due to business 
reasons and these will be clearly explained during the application procedure.  
  
The statutory right aims to facilitate discussion and encourage both the employee 
and the line manager to consider alternative flexible working patterns and to find a 
solution that suits both parties.  
  
    
2.  Scope  
 
This policy covers all employees including centrally employed teachers but excludes 
staff on the complement of locally managed schools for whom a separate policy 
applies. In the absence of a policy agreed locally by individual schools the principles 
of this policy should be followed. 
  
3.  Principles  
  

• Each application for flexible working will be considered on its own merits and 
subject to qualifying criteria.  

• Employees will be provided with appropriate support and information during 
their application by their line manager with advice from the HR Team.  

• An employee may request to be accompanied by a recognised trade union 
representative or official, or a work colleague as a companion at the meeting or 
the appeal meeting.  

• Employees can expect to have their application considered fairly in accordance 
with the set procedure.  

• Applications will be dealt with in accordance with the time limits prescribed 
unless both parties agree to an extension.  

• Applications will only be refused where there is a clear business ground for 
doing so.  The reasons for rejecting the application will be clearly explained.  

• All agreed contractual variations under this procedure will be recorded in 
writing.  

• A successful application will result in a permanent change to the employee’s 
terms and conditions of employment.  
 
 

  

Page 12



 

 

4. Eligibility  
  
To make a statutory request the individual will:  

• be an employee of the Authority (there is no minimum service requirement) 
• not be an agency worker.  
• not have made more than two applications under this policy in any 12-month 

period.  
 

  
5 The statutory right to request a predictable working pattern. 
 
Workers, i.e., have a separate statutory right to request a predictable working 
arrangement under the Employment Rights Act 1996. If you are a worker, you may 
make two statutory requests a predictable working arrangement within any 12-month 
period. Please see the Authority’s Policy on Handling Requests for a predictable 
Working Pattern. 
 
If as an employee you make a statutory request for flexible working and the purpose 
of that request is to have a more predictable working pattern, it will count as both: 

• one of your two statutory requests for flexible working 
• one of your two statutory requests for a predictable working pattern 

 
You may have only one live request either for flexible working or for a predictable 
working pattern with the Authority at any one time. 

Once eligibility has been established an employee can made a request under this 
policy by completing attached form FW (A).  
 
    
5. Scope of the Request  
  
Eligible employees will be able to request:  
 

• A reduction in the hours they work.  
• A change to the times when they are required to work.  
• A change to the place at which they work in full or in part (specifically home as 

opposed to workplace).  
  
Examples of types of flexible working patterns that may be requested are contained 
at Appendix 1.  However, it should be noted that not all the work patterns identified 
may be suitable to your circumstances or working environment.  
 
  
6.  Making an application  
  
All requests must be made in writing by filling the application from FW (A).  Any 
request under this policy must include:  
 

Page 13



 

 

• Date of the application. 
• A statement that it is a request for flexible working. 
• The changes that the employee is seeking to their terms and conditions. 
• The date on which the employee would like the terms and conditions to come 

into effect. 
• Whether or not the employee has made a previous request for flexible working 

or a request for a predictable working arrangement and if so when the employee 
made that application.  

  
All requests, including any appeals, must be decided within a period of two months 
from when the manager first receives a valid request, unless the manager and 
employee agree to extend this period. If an extension is agreed, the manager should 
confirm this in writing to the employee.  
 
 
7.  The Procedure  
 
An employee must in the first instance submit their formal application using FW (A).  
The level of detail required will depend on the desired changes to the existing 
working pattern.  However, employees should note that it could take up to two 
months to complete the process from submission of the application to final 
implementation.  (Guidance for employees is contained at Appendix 2).  
 
An agreed application will mean a permanent change to the employee’s own terms 
and conditions of employment.  There will be no right to revert to the previous 
working pattern i.e. to increase their hours of work.  It will be important therefore that 
before making an application the employee considers which working pattern will be 
best for them and any financial implications, including the effect on their pension.  
 
It is also the line manager’s responsibility to carefully consider an application for 
flexible working and examine how the desired working pattern can be 
accommodated within a particular service area or function.  Where the request 
cannot be supported the line manager should explore alternative options with the 
employee which may be mutually agreeable.  
  
At all stages of this procedure both employees and line managers can seek advice 
from the HR Team within People Management.  Employees may also seek advice 
from a recognised trade union representative.  
 
  
8.  Considering the Application  
  
It is possible for a manager to agree to a request to work flexibly simply based on the 
application itself and if so, they should write to the employee, specifying agreement 
and the start date.  Where this is not possible, there is a set procedure to be 
followed.  
  
If an employee does not provide all the information required, the line manager should 
inform the employee what they have omitted and ask them to re-submit their 

Page 14



 

 

application.  The line manager should also inform the employee that they are not 
obliged to consider the request until it is complete and re-submitted.  
  
If the employee does not provide the line manager with the information needed to 
assess whether the change can be agreed to, e.g. they have not described the 
desired working pattern, the Authority will be entitled to treat the application as 
withdrawn.  The employee will only be able to make one more application under this 
procedure within a rolling 12-month period.  It is therefore important for the employee 
to provide all the information requested.  
 
    
9.  The Meeting  
  
A meeting is not required where the line manager is able to approve the flexible 
working request, based on the information provided in the application.  
  
If the line manager cannot approve the flexible working request based on the 
information they have, they must arrange a meeting following receipt of the formal 
application under this procedure.   
 
The purpose of the meeting is to allow both parties an opportunity to explore the 
desired work pattern in depth and to discuss how best it might be accommodated.  It 
will also provide an opportunity to explore other alternative working patterns should 
there be questions with the proposal put forward by the employee.  The meeting can 
be adjourned to allow the employee and/or the line manager to consider alternative 
solutions or working patterns and agreement reached on the next meeting date.  
  
If an employee does not attend a meeting without notification and does not provide a 
reasonable explanation within seven calendar days the line manager should write to 
the employee confirming that the application is treated as withdrawn.  
  
The line manager is responsible for taking and retaining notes of all meetings with 
the employee to discuss the flexible working application.  
 
  
10.  The Right to be Accompanied  
  
There is no statutory right of accompaniment at meetings held to discuss a request 
for flexible working. However, allowing you to be accompanied is good practice. This 
can be helpful in giving confidence to make requests and in supporting both parties 
to find a mutually agreeable solution. 

If you make a request to be accompanied at any meeting to discuss your request for 
flexible working, including any appeal, and your request to be accompanied is 
reasonable and does not cause undue delay in the process, your manager should 
allow you to be accompanied a trade union representative, or an official or a work 
colleague. 

Page 15



 

 

What is reasonable will depend on the circumstances of each individual case. A 
request to be accompanied does not have to be in writing or within a certain 
timeframe. However, you should provide enough time for your manager to deal with 
the request for a companion's attendance at the meeting. You should also consider 
how you make your request so that it is clearly understood, for instance by letting 
your manager know in advance the name of the companion where possible and 
whether they are a trade union official or representative, or a work colleague. Please 
see guidance on the Role of the Companion.  

 
11.  Informing the Employee of the Outcome  
  
Where an application is approved, the line manager should:  
 

• Confirm in writing to the employee their agreement with the proposed or 
alternative work pattern and confirm a start date.  Form FW (B) should be 
completed and returned to the employee.  

  
Where an application is rejected, the line manager should:  
 

• Provide in writing to the employee a clear business grounds as to why the 
application cannot be accepted and their reasons why the grounds apply in the 
circumstances.  Form FW (C) should be completed and returned to the 
employee.  

  
There may, however, be occasions when the line manager will take further advice 
before notifying the employee of their final decision.  Should this be the case, the line 
manager should agree with the employee concerned an extension to the time limit 
for responding to the application.  This should be clearly documented with the 
revised time limit being specified.  
 
  
12.  Trial Periods  
  
Trial periods can help both the employee and line manager test a particular working 
pattern to see if it works out to the satisfaction of both parties.  
  
In some circumstances, especially when caring for an adult, a permanent change 
may not be the best solution e.g. an employee suddenly becomes the carer of an 
adult with a terminal illness, the line manager may consider a temporary flexible 
working arrangement, agreed informally outside the formal procedure, or agree to a 
time limited change after which the employee reverts to the original pattern. Please 
see the Authority’s Carer’s Leave Policy. 
  
Trial periods can potentially happen at two stages before a formal agreement is 
reached:  
 

• The line manager could give informal agreement to a trial before a formal 
flexible working request has been made by the employee; if this happens, the 
formal procedure is still available to the employee at some stage in the future.  

Page 16

http://intranet/media/79771/appendix-a-the-role-of-companion.pdf


 

 

 
or  
 

• If a formal application is made, an extension of the time for an employer to 
decide could be agreed and the trial period could happen before a final 
agreement takes place; in this case the rest of the formal procedure would still 
be available to the employee.  
 

Trial periods or temporary arrangements should be for no longer than six months, at 
which point the employee should either revert to their original working pattern or the 
new flexible working arrangement should become a permanent change to their 
contract.  
  
 
13.  Business Grounds for Refusing a Request  
  
Unfortunately, service needs or circumstances may dictate that an application for 
flexible working cannot be accommodated in accordance with the employee’s 
desired work pattern or a compromise agreed.  Under the legislation, applications 
can only be rejected for one or more of the following reasons:  
 

• Burden of additional costs. 
• Detrimental effect on ability to meet customer demand. 
• Inability to reorganise work among existing staff. 
• Inability to recruit additional staff. 
• Detrimental impact on quality (of service). 
• Detrimental impact on performance. 
• Insufficiency of work during periods the employee proposes to work. 
• Planned structural changes.  

 
The line manager will clearly document and provide for the employee the ground(s) 
for rejecting an application as well as clearly explain how the specified ground(s) 
apply in the circumstances of their application.  Form FW (C) should be completed 
as detailed above.  
 
  
14.  Appeal  
  
Where the line manager turns down an application, the employee has the right to 
appeal against the decision.  This must be done in writing, to the appropriate Director 
or nominated representative setting out the grounds for the appeal, following receipt 
of the written notice of the decision (employees should complete Form FW (D)).  
  
The appropriate Director or nominated representative will hear the appeal with 
advice from the Assistant Chief Executive (People Management) or nominated 
representative.  
  
An appeal meeting will then be convened within following receipt of the letter of 
appeal (Form FW (D)).  The employee may request to be accompanied at the appeal 

Page 17



 

 

by a recognised trade union representative or official, or work colleague.  Please see 
section 10 above. 
  
Where new information is presented to the appeal, which supports the ground(s) for 
the appeal, this will be considered.  For instance, where the original application has 
been refused due to the inability to reorganise work among existing staff or was due 
to the inability to recruit additional staff; and another employee has since elected to 
return to work following maternity leave on a part time basis and is prepared to cover 
the hours.  
  
In circumstances where the employee does not attend an appeal meeting without 
notification and does not provide a reasonable explanation within XX calendar days 
the Director or nominated representative should write to the employee confirming 
that the appeal is treated as withdrawn.  
 
  
15.  Informing the Employee of the Outcome  
  
The decision of the appeal meeting will be notified to the employee after it has been 
held.  The appropriate Director or nominated representative will communicate this in 
writing to the employee by completing Form FW (E).  The decision at appeal will be 
final and exhausts the internal procedure.  
  
If the appeal is upheld the written decision must:  
 

• Include a description of the new working pattern.  
• State the date from which the new working pattern is to take effect; and  
• Be dated.  

  
If the appeal is dismissed the written decision must:  
 

• State the grounds for the decision appropriate to the employee’s own grounds 
for making the appeal.  

• Provide an explanation as to why the grounds for refusal apply in the 
circumstances; and  

• Be dated.  
    
16.  Declined Applications  
  
Most applications will conclude with a satisfactory outcome but there may be 
occasions when the employee feels their application has not been dealt with to their 
satisfaction and the request is declined.  The employee may want to involve a third 
party or be thinking about making a complaint to an employment tribunal.  However, 
the following are options to deal with unresolved and declined applications:  
 

• Through an informal discussion with their line manager. 
• Through the Authority’s Grievance Procedure. 
• Using third party involvement e.g. an ACAS official  

  

Page 18



 

 

However, an employee can make a complaint to an Employment Tribunal or ACAS 
early conciliation where:  
 

• The employer has failed to follow the procedure properly; or  
• The decision by the employer to reject an application was based on incorrect 

facts.  
  
An employee has no right to make a complaint where they simply disagree with the 
business grounds provided.  Please note that the early conciliation scheme is 
voluntary, and both the employee and employer must agree to the process.  
 
  
17.  Extension of Time Limits  
  
There will be exceptional occasions when it is not possible to complete a particular 
part of the procedure within the specified time limit.  Such extension of time limits 
can only take place if both the line manager and the employee agree to them.  The 
line manager must make a written record of this agreement and send a copy to the 
employee.  Form FW (F) should be completed.  However, where the employee or 
line manager responsible for dealing with the application is away from work due to 
leave or illness, an automatic extension of the time limit will apply.  On the 
employee’s or line manager’s return to work, the application should be 
acknowledged so that they employee is aware that the extension has applied and 
the period in which they can expect to meet with their manager.  
 
    
18.  Withdrawal of an Application  
  
There will be occasions when an application is treated as withdrawn.  In all 
circumstances a written record must be made.  
  
Under the legislation, should an employee withdraw an application following its 
submission to the line manager, the employee will only be able to make one more 
application within a rolling 12-month period from the date of the original application.  
Employees should complete and submit Form FW (G) to their line manager.  
  
There are three reasons why an application may be treated as withdrawn:  
 

• The employee decides to withdraw the application.  
• The employee fails to attend two meetings. 
•  The employee unreasonably refuses to provide the line manager with the 

required information.  
  
The appropriate line manager, Head of Service, Director, Assistant Chief Executive 
or their nominated representative will write to the employee to confirm this.  
  
  
 
 
 

Page 19



 

 

19.  Ensuring equality of opportunity 
 
Managers must adopt a positive, open and fair approach and ensure the Authority’s 
Equality and Diversity Policy is adhered to and applied consistently to all irrespective 
of race, colour, nationality, ethnic or national origins, language, disability, religion and 
belief or non-belief, age, sex, gender reassignment, gender identity or expression, 
sexual orientation, maternity, parental, marital or civil partnership status. 
 
If you have any equality and diversity concerns in relation to the application of this 
policy and procedure, please contact a member of the People Management Team 
who will, if necessary, ensure the policy/procedure is reviewed accordingly. 
 
If you require this publication in an alternative format, please 
contact People Management by emailing 
CHR@carmarthenshire.gov.uk   
  

Page 20

http://intranet/our-people/hr/equality-diversity/
mailto:CHR@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

 

Appendix 1  
  
Examples of working arrangements/patterns which can be requested under the right 
to request flexible working are listed below:  
  
Annualised hours – working time organised based on the number of hours to be 
worked over a year rather than a week.  
  
Compressed hours – total hours which can be worked over a shorter period e.g. full 
weekly hours being worked over 4 days instead of 5.  
  
Flexi time – choice of actual working hours outside certain core times.  
  
Home working – not necessarily on a full-time basis but allows for time to be divided 
between home and office base.  A risk assessment of the activities undertaken will 
be required in advice of this pattern of work being undertaken.  
  
Job sharing – typically when two people are employed on a part-time basis but 
working together to cover one post.  
  
Shift working – gives scope to open longer hours and for employees to have either 
set or different hours of work per week.  
  
Staggered hours – different start and finish times at different times of the day.  
  
Term time working – allows for unpaid leave of absence during the school holidays.  
    
  

Page 21



 

 

Appendix 2  
  
Guidance for employees  
  
How to help the Authority consider your application:  
 

• Think carefully about the working pattern you require before making your 
request.  You will have no right to revert to your former hours of work.  

  
• Be clear about the date you would like the new working pattern to commence.  

Allow sufficient time for the procedure to be undertaken.  
 

• Always complete Form FW (A) when submitting your application.  This will 
ensure that you provide all the relevant and necessary information for the 
Authority to consider your application properly.  
 

• The more notice you provide in your application the more likely your line 
manager is to be able to accommodate your preferred start date.  
 

• Consider the financial implications of your request prior to submitting your 
application.  

  
• It is to your advantage to provide as much detail as possible about the pattern 

you would like to work.  
  

• Take time to consider the impact on your work colleagues if your working 
pattern is changed.  

  
• Support your application by providing the perceived business benefits of 

approving a request for flexible working e.g. demonstrating how your request 
will provide extra cover at peak hours thereby improving customer service.  

  
 

• Ensure you submit your application to the appropriate officer for consideration.  
  

• If you are due to go on maternity or shared parental leave, think carefully about 
when to submit your application.  If you intend for your request, if approved, to 
start on your return to work then you will need to meet your line manager during 
your period of maternity or shared parental leave.  

  
The Meeting:  
 

• Be prepared to expand on any points within your application.  
  

• Be prepared to be flexible e.g. consideration of alternative work patterns, trial 
periods or alternative start dates.  

  
• If you intend to request to be accompanied at the meeting, ensure your 

companion is fully briefed on your request.    
 

Page 22



JANUARY 2024 

Cabinet Member meeting 
03.05.24 

 
Cabinet Member: Portfolio: 
Cllr. Philip Hughes Organisation and Workforce 

 PATERNITY LEAVE POLICY 
 
Purpose: 
 
The revised Paternity Leave policy sets out our commitment to supporting fathers and partners 
with enhanced rights for paternity leave and the procedure for managing a request from an 
employee for paternity leave in line with the Paternity Leave (Amendment) Regulations 2024 
which comes into force to 6th April 2024.  
Recommendations / key decisions required: 
 
To endorse the Paternity Leave policy and recommend for adoption. 

Reasons:  
 
To ensure the Authority is compliant with the Paternity Leave (Amendment) Regulations 2024 
and meets its statutory obligations. 

Directorate: 

Name of Head of Service: 

 

 

Report Author: 

Designations: 

Paul Thomas 

Assistant Chief 
Executive 

Ann Clarke 
 
HR Manager 
(Business Partnering) 
 

Tel/ Email addresses: 

01267 246123 

PRThomas@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

01267 246167 

ALClarke@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4

mailto:PRThomas@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:ALClarke@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


JANUARY 2024 

Declaration of Personal Interest (if any): 
None 
 
 
 

Dispensation Granted to Make Decision (if any): 
N/A 
(If the answer is yes exact details are to be provided below:) 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION MADE: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed:  ____________________________________________________________DATE:_______ 
                                                                   CABINET MEMBER  
 

 
The following section will be completed by the Democratic Services Officer in 
attendance at the meeting 
Recommendation of Officer 
adopted 

YES / NO 
 

Recommendation of the Officer 
was adopted subject to the 
amendment(s) and reason(s) 
specified: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Reason(s) why the Officer’s 
recommendation was not 
adopted: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 24



JANUARY 2024 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

03.05.24 
 

SUBJECT 
 

Paternity Leave Policy 
 

Paternity Leave  
 
From 6 April 2024, employees will have enhanced statutory rights to paternity leave as set out 
in the Paternity Leave (Amendment) Regulations 2024. 

Key changes: 
The newly proposed regulations introduce several noteworthy changes to the existing 
paternity leave framework: 

Flexible leave structure: 

Employees will now have the flexibility to take their two-week paternity leave entitlement as 
two separate one-week blocks. This departure from the previous requirement of taking one 
continuous week or two consecutive weeks offers greater adaptability to people, 
acknowledging the diverse needs and circumstances that may arise during this crucial time. 

An extended timeframe for leave: 

Recognising the dynamic nature of family life, and to accommodate varying situations that can 
arise within the first year of a child’s life, a significant shift has been made in the timeframe 
within which paternity leave can be taken. Instead of the previous restriction of 56 days 
following birth, employees will can now take paternity leave at any time within the 52 weeks 
after the birth of their child. 

A reduced notice period: 

The new regulations streamline the process for employees intending to take paternity leave 
by reducing the notice period from 15 weeks before the Expected Week of Childbirth (EWC) 
to a more manageable 28 days. This adjustment facilitates better planning for both employers 
and employees, ensuring smoother coordination during this crucial period. 

Decision required: to recommend the adoption of amends to the Paternity Leave policy. 

 
DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? NO 

Policy attached 

  

Page 25



JANUARY 2024 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

Policy, 
Crime & 
Disorder 
and 
Equalities 
 

Legal  Finance  ICT  Risk 
Manage-
ment Issues  

Staffing 
Implications  

Physical 
Assets   

Bio- 
diversity & 
Climate 
Change 
 

YES  
 

YES  
 

NONE 
 

NONE  
 

NONE  
 

YES  
 

NONE  NONE 
 

 
  

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 
 
Signed:                 Paul Thomas, Assistant Chief Executive (People Management)                                                                            

 

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 
The Paternity Leave Policy supports the Authority’s Corporate Strategy and our Well-being 
Objective 4: To further modernise and develop as a resilient and efficient Council (Our 
Council).  

2. Legal  
The Paternity Leave policy enables the Authority to meet its statutory requirements as laid 
out in the Paternity Leave (Amendment) Regulations 2024.   

3. Staffing implications 
The People Management team has a role to play in educating managers on these new 
responsibilities, managing and advising on applications, to ensure the statutory obligations 
are complied with and risks of claims minimised. 

Page 26



JANUARY 2024 

 
 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

 
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below 
 
Signed:   Paul Thomas, Assistant Chief Executive                                                 
 

 
(Please specify the outcomes of consultations undertaken where they arise against the following headings) 
1. Scrutiny Committee 
N/A 
2.Local Member(s)   
N/A 
3.Community / Town Council  
N/A 
4.Relevant Partners   
N/A 
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   
Recognised trades unions have been consulted via CERF. 

 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
THERE ARE NONE  
 
Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

   
 

 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Paternity Leave Policy
People Management

Adopted: EBM April 2007
Reviewed: April 2024

Page 29



 

 

1.0 Introduction 
 
This policy sets out our commitment to supporting parents and the procedure for 
managing a request from an employee for Paternity Leave in line with the Paternity 
Leave (Amendment) Regulations 2024. 

 
2.0 Scope  
 
This policy and procedure cover all employees including centrally employed teachers 
but excludes staff on the complement of locally managed schools for whom a 
separate policy applies. In the absence of a policy agreed locally by individual 
schools the principles of this policy should be followed. 
 
 
3.0 Ordinary Paternity Leave – Becoming a parent.  
 
The Paternity Leave (Amendment) Regulations 2024provides two weeks’ paid leave 
to employees. Eligible employees will have the right to take paid leave to care for the 
child and/or support the birth mother/primary adopter in the following circumstances:  
 
 
4.0 Eligibility  
 
An employee is eligible if:  
 

• They have or expect to have responsibility for the child’s upbringing and is 
either the biological parent or the birth parent’s spouse or partner (partner 
refers to someone who lives with the birth parent, regardless of gender, in an 
enduring family relationship, but who is not a blood relative)  
 

• They have worked continuously for the Authority for 26 weeks at the 15th 
week before the Expected Week of Childbirth (EWC) and continues in that 
employment up to the date of birth. In the case of adoption, the employee will 
need to have worked for the Authority for 26 weeks leading into the week in 
which the adopter is notified of being matched with a child.  
 

• They wish to take the time off either to care for the new baby or to support the 
mother/primary adopter.  

 
 

5.0 Amount and timing of leave  
 
Employees can take up to two weeks’ leave, either as two non-consecutive weeks or 
two consecutive weeks (but not odd days). Only one entitlement period of leave is 
provided per pregnancy. Therefore, if the employee’s partner gives birth to twins or 
more than one child is placed the entitlement will still only be to two weeks’ leave.  

 

Page 30



 

 

Leave can start on any day of the week on or following the child’s birth or placement 
but must be completed within  52 weeks of the actual date of birth of the child or, or 
within 52 weeks of the child placement.  
 
 
6.0 Notice Requirements  
 
Employees must notify the Absence Team by completing the paternity application 
form of their intention to take paternity leave by the 15th week before the baby is 
expected or within seven days of the adopter being notified by their adoption agency 
that they have been matched with a child, unless this is not reasonably practicable 
and must provide the following information: 

 
• The expected date of childbirth or when the child is expected to be placed. 
• Whether they wish to take a single period of one - or two-weeks’ leave.  
• Whether they wish to take a period of two non-consecutive periods of leave of 

one week each. 
• The date they want their leave to commence (for Statutory Paternity Pay 

purposes 28 days advance notice is required for each period of leave unless 
good reason is provided for later notification)  
 

An employee may change the commencement date provided they give at least 28 
days’ notice of the new start date (unless this is not reasonably practicable) (a copy 
of which should also be sent to the Line Manager).  
 
An employee must inform the Absence Team (a copy of which should also be sent to 
the Line Manager) of the date of the child’s birth as soon as practicable after the 
birth.  
 
An employee must ensure that they inform the Line Manager regarding the paternity 
leave arrangements. 

 

7.0 Eligibility for ordinary statutory paternity pay (OSPP)  
 
To qualify for Ordinary Statutory Paternity Pay (OSSP) an employee must:  
 

• Have been continuously employed for at least 26 weeks leading into the 15th 
week before the baby is due or in the case of adoption have been employed 
for at least 26 weeks ending with the qualifying week. The qualifying week is 
the week beginning with the Sunday that the adopter received notification of 
having been matched with the child and ends the following Saturday.  
 

• Have average weekly earnings in the 8 weeks ending with the 15th week 
before the EWC or in the case of adoption in the 8 weeks at the end of the 
qualifying week equal to the lower earnings limit i.e. LEL for 2023/24 will be 
£123 a week.  

 

Page 31



 

 

• give at least 28 days’ notice of their intention to claim paternity pay.  
 

The Authority will pay OSPP to the employee for either one or two consecutive 
weeks as chosen by the employee.  

The rate of OSPP will be the same as the standard rate of Statutory 
Maternity/Adoption Pay. Where the leave commences from the 2nd April 2023, the 
OSPP will be £172.48 per week or 9/10ths of average weekly earnings if this is less 
than £172.48 per week. 

Employees who have average weekly earnings below the Lower Earnings Limit for 
National Insurance purposes (£123 a week for 2023/24) will not qualify for OSPP. 
Employees who do not qualify for SPP may be able to receive other benefits while 
on paternity leave and should contact the Job Centre Plus or Department of Work 
and Pensions Office.  

If an employee leaves the Authority for any reason before the baby is born, they will 
not be entitled to paternity leave or pay. However, if they remain in their job up until 
the baby is born before they leave employment they may still qualify for paternity 
pay. 

 

8.0 Maternity/Adoption Support Leave  
 
Maternity/Adoption Support Leave of 1 week with pay shall be granted to the child’s 
biological parent or the partner or nominated carer of an expectant birth parent at or 
around the time of birth.  
 
To qualify for maternity/adoption support leave the employee requesting this time will 
be the main support for the birth parent/ primary adopter and/or carer of the child. 
 
If the authority knows that the biological parent/ partner/ co-adopter intends to take 
their entitlement to maternity support leave (MSL) and/or statutory paternity leave 
(SPL) then there will be no need for a ‘nominated carer'.  
 
(Nominated Carer – there will be a requirement for a supporting letter from the 
expectant birth parent or primary adopter confirming that the employee has been 
elected as the nominated carer).  
 
Employees who qualify for both paternity leave and maternity support leave will be 
entitled to one week’s leave with normal pay and one week’s leave paid at the 
standard rate of SPP as detailed below: 

 

Scenario 1  
 
An employee who is the nominated carer and not eligible for paternity leave will be 
entitled to:  
 

Page 32



 

 

• 1-week Maternity/Adoption Support Leave (1 week with normal pay)  
 
 
Scenario 2  
 
An employee with at least 26 weeks continuous service at the 15th week before the 
EWC or leading into the week in which the adopter is notified of being matched with 
a child and who is eligible for paternity leave will be entitled to the following:  
 

• 1-week Maternity/Adoption Support Leave (1 week with normal pay with 
OSPP offset)  

• 1-week Ordinary Statutory Paternity Pay at £172.48 SPP per week  
(or 9/10ths of average weekly earnings if this is less)  

or  
• 1-week Maternity/Adoption Support Leave (1 week with normal pay with 

OSPP offset)  
 
This will apply when an employee does not elect to take week 2 of the Statutory 
Paternity Leave/Pay 
 
Please note:  
 
For additional leave please refer to the Shared Parental Leave Policy.  
 
For adoption paternity leave please refer to the Adoption and Surrogacy Leave policy 
for adoptive parents. 
 
 
9.0 Re-instating lost pension because of unpaid paternity leave  
 
As a member of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), you are able to 
reinstate any ‘lost pension’ arising from a period of unpaid paternity leave by paying 
additional contributions under an Additional Pension Contribution (APC) 
arrangement on your return to work. To do so, you will need to make an election to 
re-instate your lost pension within 30 days of returning to work. Provided you make 
your election within this period, and the reason for the period of absence is 
authorised unpaid leave the cost will be shared with the Authority (1/3rd to the 
member and 2/3rds to the Authority).  
 
However, if your election is made after 30 days of the date on the payslip in 
which the deduction of unpaid leave is taken, the entire cost will fall with you, 
as the member.  
 
If you wish to reinstate the lost pension during your period of unpaid paternity leave, 
you will need to complete an online form via the Dyfed Pension Fund website. Before 
accessing the online modeller, you will need to have to hand, the lost pensionable 
pay for your period of unpaid leave/ industrial action (you will be able to request for 
this information from payroll) and the date you returned to work.  
 

Page 33

http://intranet/our-people/hr/time-off-work/shared-parental-leave/
http://intranet/our-people/hr/time-off-work/adoption-surrogacy-leave/
https://www.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk/


 

 

Please note that you will need to complete all the following details on the online 
calculator:  
 
Personal Details section – complete all fields 1 – 7 – (information you must have at 
hand to complete this section are your NI Number and payroll number)  
 
Details for Quote: - complete fields 8, 9, 10, 11 & 12  
Field 8 – insert the lost pensionable pay – this will be to amount shown in your 
payslip for the deduction of the unpaid leave.  
 
Field 9 – insert the reason of absence –click on ‘authorised unpaid leave’ from drop 
down menu.  
 
Field 10 – section during absence – click on ‘main section’ from down menu (unless 
you have made an election to contribute under the 50/50 Section of the Scheme)  
 
Field 11 - Last day of absence – insert the last date of unpaid leave taken during the 
applicable month. If the reason for absence is “authorised unpaid leave”, and you are 
making the application within 30 days of the date on the payslip in which the 
deduction of unpaid leave is taken, please click on the box “30-day override” 
(employer confirmation must be provided).  
 
Field 12 – Method of payment – click on ‘lump sum deduction’ from drop down 
menu.  
Finally click on ‘Get Quote’ to calculate the cost of purchasing lost pension – this will 
show on the results section on the right-hand side of the page see below: 

Lump sum Cost to member before tax relief   £ xxx.xx 
 
Please note that you can also choose to buy the lost pension by spreading payment 
of the additional pension contributions over several complete years, however, you 
will be required to arrange a medical examination (by a Registered Medical 
Practitioner) to obtain a certificate at your own expense to certify that you are in 
‘reasonably good health’ before your application is accepted. 
 
Having completed the above, if you then wish to proceed with the purchase of your 
lost pension, please follow the following steps:  
 
Step 1 - you will need to download the online form by ticking the ‘Application’ box, 
which confirms that the information entered is correct and that you have read and 
understood the ‘Terms and Conditions’ for your additional pension applications. 
 
Step 2 - click on the ‘submit’ button on the bottom right-hand side of the page. This 
will transfer the details that you have entered onto a pdf document.  
 
Step 3 - please sign the declaration on this form and email or post it directly to:  
 
CR Payroll (CRPayroll@carmarthenshire.gov.uk ) mailbox or post to 

Page 34

mailto:CRPayroll@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

 

Payroll Team, People Management, Carmarthenshire County Council, 3 Spilman 
Street, Carmarthen, SA31 1LE.  

CR Pensions (CRPensions@carmarthenshire.gov.uk ) mailbox or post to Dyfed 
Pension Fund, Building 2, St David’s Park, Jobswell Road, Carmarthen, SA31 3HB. 
 
If you do not elect to reinstate your ‘lost pension’, the pension benefits that you have 
built up within the Scheme Year (1 April to 31 March), in which your period of unpaid 
leave falls, will be proportionately less as a result. For further information, please 
refer to the Dyfed Pension Fund website: www.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk 

10.0 Ensuring Equality of Treatment 
 

All employees are required to adopt a positive, open and fair approach and ensure 
the Authority’s Equality and Diversity Policy is adhered to and applied consistently to 
all irrespective of race, colour, nationality, ethnic or national origins, disability, 
religion and belief or non-belief, age, sex, gender reassignment, gender identity and 
gender expression, sexual orientation, pregnancy or maternity, marital or civil 
partnership status. 
 
In addition, the Welsh Language Standards ask us to ‘ensure that the Welsh 
language is treated no less favorably than the English language’ and this principle 
should be adopted in the application of this principle. 
 
If you have any equality and diversity concerns in relation to the application of this 
policy and procedure, please contact a member of the HR Team who will, if 
necessary, ensure the policy/procedure is reviewed accordingly. 
 

If you require this publication in an alternative format, 
please contact People Management on Ext 6184 or email 
CHR@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

  
 

 

Page 35

mailto:CRPensions@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
http://www.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk/
mailto:CHR@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE DECISION RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 30TH JANUARY 2024
	3 FLEXIBLE WORKING POLICY
	Report

	4 PATERNITY LEAVE POLICY
	Report
	10.0	Ensuring Equality of Treatment



